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A. IDENrITY OF PErITIOOER 

Juan Jose Huezo Luna (hereinafter Mr. Huezo), petitioner herein, 

respectfully requests that this court review the entire decision of the Court 

of Appeals (Division :Ur),, a copy of which is attached as:.l!ppel'ldix A. state 

v. Huezo, NO. 36001-6-m. (Unpublished Opinion). 

B. ISSUES l'RESENrED FOO REVIEW 

Mr. Huezo was charged with Rape of a Child in the First Degree, and 

three counts of Child Molestation in the First Degree. The pne count of Rape 

of a Child in the First Degree and the first count of Child llblestation in the 

First Degree alleged aggravating circumstances of an ongoing pattern of 

sexual abuse and breach of a position of trust. The second count of child mo.:. , 

lestation in the first degree alleged the aggravating circumstance of violation 

of a position of trust. Slip op. at 4. on January 30, 2018, the jury returned 

verdicts of guilty of rape of a child in the first degree and two counts of 

childmolestation in the first degree, and found that the erihancements applied. 

Brief of Appellant at 5. 

The trial court sentenced Mr. Huezo on count one to 300 months; count 

Two to 216 rronths; and Count Three to 180 rronths, each count running concurre­

ntly. Id. 

Mr. • Huezo timely appealed his convictions, argUing that the trial court 

erred when it (1) allowed the witnesses to provide written responses to the 

state's questions before the jury; and (2) excluded his request to present evi­

dence of his sexual morality. Mr. Huezo also argued that there was insufficient 

evidence to convict him •• OOA at 10-11 • In his statement of Additional grounds 
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(SAG) brief, Mr. Huezo argued that the trial court abused its discretion when 

it allowed the prosecutor to -- over defense counsel's objections -- ccmnit mis­

conduct by violating the motion in limine and soliciting Mr. Huezo's opinion 

testimony cin his accusers' credibility (SAG at 4-9); that the prosecutor ccmn­

itted misconduct by ccmnenting on Mr. Huezo's'right to remain silent and then 

used such silence to infer his guilt (SAG at 9-14); that that the prosecutor 

ccmnitted misconduct when it improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. 

Huezo (SAG at 14-17); that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because 

iiis trial COUIJ.Sel failed to with'.lraw £ran the case, failed to cross--exarnine and 

impeach material witnesses, and also failed to move for dismissal of the charges 

(SAG at 17-30); and that currmulative error denied him a fair trial. SAG at 30-

33. 

A=rdingly, the issues raised herein are as follows: 

OOES THE I.OWER <XJURT''S DECISION THAT MR. HUEZO PRESENl'ED THE OOURT 00 

Alll'OORITY THAT THE STATE MAY NC/I' QUESTION THE ACCUSED AOCfJr THE VICI'IM' S 

TRIJIBFULNESS DISRroARD THE REn'.lRD AND OJNFLICI' WI'I'H BINDING PRECEDENT? 

OOES THE I.OWER <XJURT' S DECISION THAT MR. llUEZO' S TRAIT OF SEXUAL lltJRALITY 

MUST BE PROVED BY TESTThONY AOOCJI' HIS REPUTATION FORMED WI'IllIN A GENERALIZED 

AND NEOl'RAL ruJMONITY CXJNFLICI' WITH BINDING PRECEDffll'? 

OOES THE LOWER <XJURT''S DEX:ISION THAT, ALTOOOGH THE PROSIDmJR'S QUESTIONS 

AND CLOSING REMARKS INDIRECI'LY CRITICIZED MR. HlJEZO FOR Rl'WJNING SILENT BEFORE 

TRIAL, THE QUESTIONS AND RE>IARKS DID NC/I' aJNSTI'.IUIB FLAGRANI' OR PREJUDICIAL 

MISCIJNDUCI' CXJNFLICI' WI'I'H BINDING PRECEDENI'? 

OOES 'lliE I.OWER <XJURT'S DECISION THAT THE STATE DID NC/I' SHIFT THE BURDEN 

OF !?ROOF ON'ID MR. HllEZO CXX'IFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENI'? 

OOES THE I.0WER <XJURT'S DECISION THAT THE TRIAL O)URT DID NCl1' BREACH MR. 
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llUEZO"S OJNFRONJ.'ATION RIGHTS WHEN IT ALLOWED MR. HUEZO'S ACCUSERS '.ID TESTIFY 

VIA WRI'ITEN ANSWERS CONFLicr WITH BINDING PREx::EDEITT? 

OOES THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION THAT MR. HUEZO DID 1-D':r R&:EIVE INEFFEC'l'·­

IVE ASSJ'.STANCE OF CXJONSEL CONFLICl' WI'ffi BINDING PRECEDEITT? 

OOES 'IllE LOWER O'.JURT'S DECISION 'J.'HAT,,THE cnIBlNED EFFEcr OF THE ERRORS 

DID 001' VIOLATE THE CUMMOLATIVE ERROR !XJCIRINE <XJNFLICl' WITH BINDING PRBX:::EDENI'? 

C. STA'l'OlENr OF THE CASE 

The facts of Mr. Huezo's alleged crimes and convictions are quoted from 

the lower courPs decision below, and Mr. Huezo's SAG brief. 

-FR(),! 'lllE DEXcISION BELOW: 

Juan Luna Huezo is tne stepfather of T&rtl\Y, born April 5, 2005, and 
Bonnie, born July 31, 2006, both pseudonyms. >nie girl's [sic] 
mother began dating Luna Huezo in November 2009 and married him in 
January 2010. Luna Huezo is more than two decades older than the 
girls. 

At age nine, Tarrmy became the subject of sexual abllise by Juan Luna 
Huezo. Luna Huezo began sexually abusing Bonnie when she was eight 
years old. 

Slip op. at 1-2. 

FRa.! MR. HUEZO'S SAG BRIEF: 

TAMMY'S STATD!ENI'S 'ID LAW ENFORCEMEN!' BEFORE TRIAL: 

that Mr. Huezo had been sexually abusing her since she was nine 
years old; that at first he would put his finger in her hole to try 
and make it bigger; that he would put sane sort of lubricant on his 
finger before he would touch her vagina; that he would tell her that 
she was too small; · that as the sexual abuse progressed, he would put 
his penis in her vagina; that he would take her into his bedroom, 
lock the door, and place a blanket at the bottan of the door; that 
he would pull a little square package (either blue or red) from a 
Mario backpack, and then take sanething from the package and put it 
on his private and then use oil to make it go into her easier; that 
one time she was screaming so Mr. huezo put a zebra blanket into her 
mouth to silence her; that she was tied up with tape at her aunt's 
house; that Mr. Huezo tied her to a bar and vaginally penetrated her 
while her legs and ams were tied up; that she saw white stuff cx::m­
ing out of Mr. Huezo's penis; that Mr. Huezo would google people 
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having sex on his phone and shaw it to her; that Mr. Huezo would 
tell her to smile like the girls in the video, and that this was '·' 
because she was usually crying; that there were times when she was 
gone with hor man and they would =ne back hane and she would real­
ize that mr. Huezo was sexually abusing her little sister; and that 
the last time Mr. Huezo abused her was about three days ago. 

SAG Brief at 22. 

FRCM THE DECISION BEWW: 

At trial, Tarrmy testifiec! that Juan Luna Huezo sexually touched her 
on several occasions and in multiple locations in Kennewick, inclu­
ding at an appartment her family rented at the Hawaiin Village Apart­
ments, at her family's hane on Steptoe Street, at her aunt Niashia 
Morales Enriguez's residence, and in a vehicle. 'rhe sexual touching 
included Luna Huezo placing his hand on Tarrmy's private parts, 
placing his private parts against her body, and placing his penis 
inside her mouth. 

Tarrmy further testified that Juan Luna Huezo tied her hands behind 
her back with duct tape. Luna Huezo obtained a condan fran a blue 
and gray backpack in the bathroan and placed it on his penis. Luna 
Huezo also riilbbed oil on his penis. During trial, Luna Huezo con­
firmed that he used condans and oil when engaging in sexual activity. 

According to Tarrmy, Juan Luna Huezo also sexually abused her sister. 
Onoe Tarrmy asked Luna Huezo whether he was "doing the same thing [to 
Bonnie], 11 and he responded that he was. Report of Proceedings (RP) 
at 271. 

FROO MR. HUEZO'S SAG BRIEF: 

lla'lNIE'S STATEMENTS 'ID LAW ENFORCEMENT BEFORE TRIAL: 

That Mr. Huezo touchea her on several occasions between the time 
she was 8 and 9 years old; that he would come into her roan and ,.~ 
touch her vagina over her clothes; that she rememberea one time 
when he carried her to her roan and took all of his clothes off 
(save for his boxers) and touched her vagina over her underwear; and 
that he.told her that she was too small for him to put his penis 
in her, but he would once she was older. 

SAG Brief at 25. 

FRCt,l 'l'HE DECISIOO BEIDW: 

Bonnie testified that Juan Luna Huezo touched her private area once, 
Bonnie further testified that she witnessed Juan Luna Huezo touch 
Tamny' s private parts while 'l'ailllly slept at the Steptoe hous.e. Bonnie 
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witnessed Luna Huezo take Tanmy into his bedroan1 at which time 
she heard Tamny crying. 

On February 81 2017, frd:ends of eleven-year-old Tarrmy saw her crying 
during fifth grade music class. After speaking with Tarrmy, her 
friends informed their teacher about their concerns. Tanmy's teacher 
then contacted Sarah McMullin, the school counselor, who spoke with 
Tarrmy. 

Tamny and her ten-year-old sister, Bonnie, disclosed to Sarah McMullin 
that Juan LUna Huezo sexually abused them. McMullin contacted the 
Kennewick J>olice Department. on February 8 1 2017, Matmdlwtilurst?dlg}ca 
forensic.,chtld.interviewer at the Sexual advocacy Response Center, 
interviewed both children. 

on the night of February,8, 2017, Kennewick Police Department Detect­
ive Jose Santoy obtained warrants to search Tamny and :Bonnie's heme 
and the residence of their aunt, Niashia Morales Enriquez. Police 
found condans, duct tape, zip ties, and a zebra blanket. Law enforce­
ment neither preserved nor tested the blanket for DNA. 

At sane unidentified time, Dr. Shannon Phipps, later a trial witness, 
examined Tamny. Tamny was fearful and withdrawn while relating her 

blliist9yyt!wDr. Phipps. Tanmy informed the physician that "she [Tarrmy] 
was too small," suoh that Juan Luna Huezo's penis did not fit inside 
her. RP at 161 • Dr. Phipps 1 found no physical abnormalities in Tammy. 

The State of Washington charged Juan Luna Huezo with one count of 
rape of a child in the first degree for conduct involving Tanmy and 
three counts of child rrolestation in the first degree, with one 
count involving Tamny and two counts involving Bonnie. The one count 
of rape of a child in the first degree alleged aggravating circum­
stances of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse and breach of a posi­
tion of trust. The second count of child molestation in the first 
degreealleged the aggravating circumstance of a violation of a 
position of trust • 

. ,. :·~--During a pretrial interview with defense counsel, Tamny disclosed 
that sexual contact imposed by Juan Luna Huezo occurred fifty-eight 
times at the Hawaiin Village apartment and that her mother was home 
on about thirty or the occasions. Tamny also disclosed that sexual 
contact occu=ed twenty times at Niashia Morales Enriquez's residence 
and thirty times at the Steptoe house. 

Before trial, the trial court granted the state's rrotion in limine 
precluding a witness fran assessing the credibility of another wit­
ness. Also at the beginning of trial, the court entertained the State's 
rrotion to exclude character and reputation evidence. Juan Luna Huezo 
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intended to have four witnesses testify to his sexual mrality and 
decency; his ex-spouse, Laura Martinez; his daughter, Alexis Huezo; 
and his two sisters-in-law, Nancy Morales Enriquez and Niashia Mor­
ales Enriquez. The trial court allowed Luna Huezo to present offers 
of proof before ruling on the State's mtion to exclude the family 
meiooe.ds testimony. During the offer of proof, Luna Huezo dlid:',not 
ask Alexis Huezo questions regarding his reputation fortsexual mr­
ality. He conceded that he failed to establish a sufficient found-. 
ation for Nancy Morales Enriquez and Niashia M::>rales Enriquez to 
testify to his reputation in the camrunity. The trial court denied 
any testimony from the four witnesses as to Luna Huezo's morality. 

During her testirtPny, the state asked Tarrmy to describe Juan Luna 
Huezo's penis. Tammy did not respond. The State then asked Tamny 
whether she would prefer to write her answer, to which Tanmy nodded 
affirmatively. Defense counsel objected to a written answer, but the 
trial oourt overruled the oojection. Tanmy's written answer read, 
"It was long and tiny hair." RP at 264. Defense counsel cross-exam­
ined Tammy, but did not question her about the one written answer. 

During trial, Tarrmy did not testify to the number of times of sexual 
contact she earlier reported to defense counsel. Rather, she testi­
fied that Juan Luna Huezo touched ter prillvates one time at the Hawa­
iian Village aparbnent, put his penis against her vagina more than 
once at the Hawaiin Village aparbnent, and touched her vagina one 
time at Niashia M::>rales enriquez's residence. 

Bonnie testified with difficulty during trial. Bonnie did not answer 
sane questions and responded to other questions with "I don't know" 
or "I don't remember." RP at 216-44. Bonnie testified that Juan 
Luna Huezo touched her private part on one occasion. 

Bonnie did not resporrl to a state's question of why she did not tell 
her m:ither about her stepfather's conduct. When she hesitated to an­
swer, the state asked Bonnie to write her answer. The trial court 
overruled defense counsel's oojection to a written answer. The court 
ccmnenta!k 

This child is 11 and has been on the stand since a little after 
11 o'clock. It's now 11:28. This witness is clearly having a 
difficult time responding and answering to questions ••• 

RP at 228. Bonnie wrote that she did not tell her mther because she 
thought her mther =uld not believe her. 

When the state asked Bonnie why she did not infonn her mother about 
Tarrmy's crying while being molested by Juan Luna Huezo, Bonnie re­
plied that she was scared. When asked by the state why she was 
scared, Bonnie did not respond. Bonnie wrote her response over the 
defense's objection, The state showed Bonnie's response to the jury. 
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our record does not include the response. Defense counsel chose not 
to cross-examine Bonnie. 

During trial, the forensic child interviewer, Mauri Murstig, explai­
ned the concept of episodic rnernory versus script memory: 

[A::tsking a child who has experienced that [sexual abuse] for a 
long period of time, you know, they're not going to be able to 
give you an exact nuniber that happened over months or years. 
And so, you know, what we try to do is just one time, more than 
one time and then try and get them to provide as many, you know, 
if there were specific times they could remember, specific epi­
sodes, we try to focus on that. But, you know, it's going to be 
impossible to have them describe every time something happened, 
if it happened, you know, over a long period of time . 

.RP at 132. 

or. Shannon Phipps, D.O. testified about the i;:hysical examination 
she conducted on Tarrany, 'Ille state's attorney questioned Phipps: 
"because you don't find any kind of physical rranifestations in her 
body, does that mean no sexual abuse occurred?" RP at 154. or. Phipps 
answered: 

No, it doesn't. '!he body is incredible for healing. And I l'.Uuld 
relate this back to the example that I gave between an acute 
and a non--acute visit. 

If you'.re walking down the street and you twist your knee. You 
ffdght have sa,e swelling· initially. If you <:iO imnediately .for 
something, that might be perceived. Whereas if you wait three 
or four qa:ys, the swelling may have resolved, there may not be 
a physical finding yet the, injury still occurred, so the body 
can heal. 

.RP at 154. Phipps averred that she would mt expect to see tears or 
lesions in the vaginal area if a penis rubbed against the area, ra­
ther than entered the vagina. Finally, Dr. Phipps declared that 
''.lilt's ITOre typical not to find findings than to find findings" in 
sexual assualt exams • .RP at 161. 

Kennewick Police Department Jose Santoy testified during trial. He 
explained the reason for not testing or presei:ving for evidence the 
zebra blanket. 

[T]he blanket, like I said, it was in a general area of the bed­
roan and any of the children could have touched it, to include 
the defendant and the victims. 

RP at 205, After resting its case at trial, the State dismissed 
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count 4, a child rrolestation charge involving Bonnie. 

Juan Luna Huezo testified om his behalf. He denied any inappropriate 
sexual contact with either Tanmy or Bonnie. During cross-examination, 
thetState as)j:ed: 

Isn't it true during that interview you told Detective Santoy 
that !Tanmy] would never lie about anything this serious; isn't 
that true? 

RP at 401. On defense counsel's objection and the trial court's over­
ruling the objection, the State proceeded to ask the question two 
ttPre times, once about Tanmy and once about Bonnie. The state also 
asked Luna Huezo about his carrnent about Tanmy's hygiene issues the 
rrorning of his arrest: 

'Ibis is the first we're hearing about all this; Isn't that true? 

RP at 399. 

Trial defense counsel suffered the· death of his niece during the t 
trial. In response to the niece's death, oounsel stated that "a brief 
continuance 1'Uuld be sufficient" in order to ensure his effectiveness 
at trial. RP at 105. The trial court granted a one-day recess for 
counsel to rest before continuing with trial. Gln return fran the one­
day recess, trial oounsel made no further mention of his need for 
additional oontinuances. Trial counsel had tragically lost three sib-­
lingi; to cancer in the thirteen ronths preceding his niece's death. 

·~ing sumnation, the State's attorney carmented: 

IJuan Luna HUezo] took the stand and he told you, ••• [t]hat there 
is also this thing that happened the m:,rning of 2-8 where Tarntly 
witnessed him pulling Bonnie 1 s hair •••• And sanething about Tarrmy 
not wiping herself. 

You know what's interest? 'Ihink about this. 

No question was ever asked of Kelly about any of that. Huh, 
Don't you think that's weird? No question was asked of Bol'lnie 
about any of that. None of that was mentioned in opening state­
ment. Why is that? Because it only came in through him. Nol:x:dy 
else was asked about any of that, Think about that. Why? Because 
it's not true. 

RP at 463-64. 'Ille prosecuting attorney added: 

He [Juan Il.ma HUezo] waited an entire year to now tell his side, 
Didn't tell it that day. Maybe he's had sane time to think about 
it. 
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RP at 464. 

'Ihe jury found Juan Luna Huezo guilty on all three counts and further 
found the presence of the aggravating circumstances, 

Slip op. at 2-9. 

D. REASOOS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPl•ED AND ARGUMENT 

RAP 13,4(b) pennits review by this court where a decision of the Court 

of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme 

Court, raises a significant question of law under the Washington State or United 

States Constitution, or deals with an issue of substantial public interest. This 

petition meets the first criteria. 

(a) WE DEX::ISION BEWW CONFLicrs WITH BINDit'/3 PRECEDENT PRECLUDING A 
N WI'INESS FRCM TESTIFYl:NG ABOOr THE CREDIBILITY OF ANOTHER·.·WIWESS, 

In State v. Suarez-Bravo, 72 Wn.App, 359, 864 P.2d 426 (1994), the court 

established the precept that a witness may not testify about the credibility of 

another witness. Id. at 366. In State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 30 P.3d 1278 ; 

(2001 ), the oourt solidified the.:.rule that no witness may offer testimony in the 

fonn of an opinion regarding the guilt of a defen&mt, for such testimony is 

unfairly:.prejudicial to the defendant because it invades the exclusive province 

of the jury. Id. at 759. 

Mr, Huezo was tried fer allegedly sexually assaulting his two stepdaught-. , 

ers (Tanmy & Bonnie), who were the only witnesses to his alleged misconduct. 

'Ihere was no physical evidence of his guilt. Mr. Huezo denied the accusations 

an::l. steadfastly maintained his innocence. SAG Brief at 4-5. 

Before the trial, the State filed a notion in lirnine and argued therein 

to exclude the testinony of Tanmy and Bonnie's rother, insofar as she intended 

to testify that she did not believe the allegations her daughters were making 

against Mr, Huezo. 'Ihe State argued that credibility determinations were for the 
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jury, on the day of trial, the State renewed its motion in limine argUment and· 

stated that "the only people that can judge the.·credibility of any witnesses in 

this case are the ladies and gentleman of the jury," and then proceeded to in;; 

fonn the court: 

"So any type of testimony that the defense intends to elicit fran 
witnesses regarding their belief of ·one witness or another, the 
State, of cou:vse, would adamantly object to. 

"Whereas the same goes for the state. And the State of Washington 
can't ask the police officers whether they believe the children. 
The state can't ask the child f()l:lerulic interviewer if they believe 
the children. Finally, the State can't ask the rrother do you be­
lieve the children. And it goes to both sides. And I would ask that 
any type of testimony that would be elicited fran •.• Kelly Huezo ••• 
would be excluded as well." 

SAG Brief at 4-5. The trial court agreed with the State and granted the 

rrotion in limine, stating that it was absolutely improper for one witness to 

get on the stand and say I believe this other witness, noting that credibility 

determinations are to be decided by the jury. SAG at 6. But during the cross­

examination of Mr. Huezo, the state posed questions to him that were designed 

to elicit opinion testimony about Tarrmy & Bonnie's credibility: 

PROSID1IOR: 

"Isn't it true during the interview you told Detective Santoy that 
[Tarnuy] would never lie about anything this serious; isn't that "' 
true?" 

over defense counsel 1 s objections, the trial court permitted the State 

to pose the question to Mr. Huezo two rrore times in front of the jury. SAG at 

6-7. 

In State v. Stith, 71 Wn.App. 14, 856 P.2d 415 (1993), the Court held 

that cross-examination designed to compel a _witness to 9l<Press an opinion as to 

whether other witnesses were lying constitutes misconduct. Id. at 18. Here, the 

trial court all<:Med the prosecutor, on cross-examination, to question Mr. Huezo 
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in such a manner so as to make it appear that he was vouching for Tamey and 

Bonnie's credibility; this despite the fact that he was rre.intaining his inno;,:: 

cense. 

In fine, the impermissible opinion testiroony elicited by the state bore 

directly on Mr. Huezo's defense and therefore his guilt, and thereby violated 
' 

Mr. Huezo's constitutional right to a jury trial under the U.S. Costitution, ,: 

amendment VI, including the independent detennination of the facts by the jury. 

Demery, 144 Wn,2d at 759 ("impermissible opinion testiroony regarding the defend­

ant's guilt may be reversible error because admitting such evidence violates 

[the defendant's] constitutional right to a jury trial, including the independ­

ant determination of the facts by the jury.") • 

The decision below states that Mr. Huezo "presents the oourt no authority 

that the State may not question the accused about statements he uttered to 

another regarding the truthfulness of the victim." Slip op. at 21 • 

This finding not only overlooks the authorities Mr. Huezo cited above for 

the proposition that it was prejudicially improper for the state to elicit his 

opinion testiroony about Tanrny and Bonnie's credibility, but such finding also 

conflicts with these same authorities. Perhaps recognizing this, the lower court 

proceeded to state: 

"Regardless, we find no prejudice in the questions and answer be­
cause of the overwhelming evidence, including circumstantial evi­
dence, of the crimes and Luna Huezo' s concession to Tamny of the 
abuse of Bonnie." 

Slip OJ?, at 21 • But our SUpreme Court has said that the very act of a 

witness offering testiroony in the form of an opinion regarding the guilt of a 

defendant is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant, for it invades the province 

of the jury. Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759. In granting the state's notion in limine, 
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the trial court essentially agreed with this precept, as;'did the State when it 

argued the motion in limine. 

Assuming arguendo that the improper questioning of Mr. Huezo about the 

credibility of both Tammy and Bonnie {his accusers) aws not per se prejudicial, 

the totality of t!;l:e circumstances of the case demonstrate prejudice to Mr. 

Huezo. 

Mr. Huezo was being tried for sexually assaulting Tarrrny and Bonnie, the 

only witnesses to the alleged abuse. The state's doctor uncovered no physical 

evidence of sexual assault. The state failed to preserve and conduct DNA testing 

of a blanket that Mr. Huezo was accused of using to silence Tarrrny during an .1 

alleged incident of sexual assault, and that would have been potentially useful 

to undermine Tarnny's overall credibility. 

fureover, the State extensively comnented on Mr. Huezo's right to remain 

silent and used his silence as substantive evidence of guilt, while Mr. l!Uezo's 

attorney also failed to cross-examine Bonnie despite having a prior inconsistent 

statement that was materially different than her new-and-improved trial testi­

mony. SAG at 21 • .Mr. Huezo' s attorney also failed to impeach 'l.amny with her prior 

incoosistent statement that was materially different than her'trial testimony. 

Finally, the state improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Huezo {SAG 

at 14-17), while the trial court prevented Mr. Huezo fran presenting evidence 

of his sexual rrorality. 

It is against this 'backdrop of prejudicial errors and ineffective assist­

ance of counsel that the lower court ought to have weighed the overall preju< 

dicial impact on Mr. Huezo's right to a fair trial, but instead the lower court 

overlooked all of the same and simply found that there was overwhelming evidence 

of Mr. Huezo's criminal acts and, accordingly, found that the State's impermissi-
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ble acts of eliciting Mr. Huezo's opinion testimony on his own accusers' credi­
bility was not prejudicial. 

The trial court abused its discretion when it permitted prosecutorial 

misconduct by allowing the state to repeatedly elicit opinion testimony fran Mr. 

Huezo that put Mr. Huezo in the incredible i:osition of vouching for the credi,s 

bility of his accusers while, at the same time, maintaining that he was innocent 
of his accusers' allegations. 

Mr. Huezo ought tocibe granted a new trial for the decision below con~,. i. 

flicts with binding precedent supi:orting l)!r. Huezo' s argU!OOllt that the trial 
court's decision allowing the prosecutorial misconduct significantly prejudiced 
Mr. Huezo'.s right to a fair trial unaer both the Washington state and u.s. 

Constitutions (Amendment VXJ. 

(b) THE DEJ8ISION BELOW CDNFLICTS wrrn BINDING PRECEDEm ESTABLISHING mAT THE srATE'S DEJ8ISIOO 'IO USE MR. HOEzo's SII.mCE AS SUBSTANrIVE EVI­DENCE OF HIS GUILT WAS PREJUDICIAL, FL/I.GRANT & ILlrINTENI'IONED, 

Here, the prosecutor -- during cross-examination, recross examination, 
and during closing arguments, extensively o::mnented on Mr. Huezo's right to re­

main silent and used his silence against him as substantive evidence of his guilt. 
SAG 9-14. The decision below conceded that the prosecutor indirectly criticized 

Mr. Huezo for remaining silent before his trial, but found that the prosecutor's 
miscooduct was not prejudicial or flagrant. given the overwhelming evidence of 
guilt. Slip op. at 21~22. 

'ltlere nrust be a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the 
jury verdict in order to establish prejudice. In re Glasrnann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 
286 P.3d 673 (2012). In state v. Pinson, the court found that the ·state carmitt­
ed prejudicial misconduct where "The State essentially asked the jury to find 

that Pinson's silence was an admission of guilt, and argued that such an admiss-
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ion was sufficient to convict him." Pinson, 183 Wn.App. at 420. 

As the decision below reflects, the state's IPisconduct here is not 

substantively different than the state's conduct in Pi!]_son: the State essentially 

asked the jury to find that Mr, Huezo's silence was substantive evidence of 

his guilt since he elected nrot to tell his side of the story to Detective San­

toy, but instead waited until trial to tell it. 

Hence Mr. Huezo has met his burden of demonstrating prejudice, andttihe 

decision below conflicts with both Pinson and Glasmann, supra, a conflict the 

lower =urt justifies by claiming that the record contains overwhelming evi­

dence of Mr. Huezo's guilt. Slip op. at 21-22. 

But as Mr. Huezo has pointed out above (See page 12, supra), and incorp::,,­

rates by reference, his trial was plagued with prejudicial errors and ineffect­

ive assistance of counsel that~ under the cumm!llative error doctrine, denied him 

his right to a fair trial. Mr. Huezo' s trial was essentially a credibility con­

test: who would the jury believe, Mr. Huezo or Tammy & Bonnie'? 

'.I.lris being the essential nature of Mr. Huezo's trial, it is untenable for 

the lower court to find that Mr. Huezo did not show that the state's use of 

his silence was prejudicial, especially in light of the fact f,::hat (1) the State 

solicited Mr. Huezo' s opinion testimony on his accusers' credibility ( SAG 4-9) ; 

(2) the State improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Huezo (SAG at 14-

17); and (3) Mr. Huezo's attorney failed to respectively cross-examine and im,.; 

peach Bonnie and Tanmy with their prior :!inconsistent statements that were ma~. 

terially different than their respective trial testimony, and thereby let their 

credibility go tmoontested. SAG at 20-27. 

Finally, although the lower =urt's decision recognized that the state 

indirectly criticized Mr. Huezo for remaing silent before trial, it did not 

14 



find the State's conduct flagrant. Slip op. at 21-22. But the record shows that 

the prosecutor executed a deliberate and methodical plan to have the jury use 

Mr. Huezo's right to remain silent against him as substantive evidence of guilt: 

the State questioned him during cross-examination, then during recross, and then 

told the jury during closing: 

"The purpose of an interview, for them to give you, your side of the 
story? 

":Illat wasn't true. He waited an entire year to now tell his side. 
Didn't tell it that day. Maybe he's had some time to think about it." 

SAG at 14. The prosecutor knew that the Fifth Arnenchnent of the U .s. Consti­

tution and the Washington state Constitution forbade it from canpelling Mr. ,, 

Huezo from being a witness against himself. State v. Pinson, 183 Wn.App. at 416; 

ld. at 416-17. The prosecutor also knew that it could not use Mr. Huezo's sile­

nce as evidence of substantive guilt. Burke, 163 Wn.2d at 217; state v. Knapp, 

148 Wn.App. 414, 420, 199 P.3d 505 (2009). The prosecutor also knew that it 1<.Duld 

be improper to .make a closing argument that encouraged the jury to infer guilt 

from Mr. Huezo1·s silence. Pinson, 183 Wn.App. at 417; Burke, 163 Wn.2d at 216-17. 

Nevertheless, the prosecutor used Mr. Huezo' s silence against him; this consti­

tutes ill-intention. 

Moreover, the prosecutor took Mr. Huezo' s trial testimony,· wherein he 

intended to show the jury that his eldest stepdaughter had a rrotive to get him 

into trouble, and flagrantly misused it to excite and implicitly invite the jury 

to find him guilty because he didn't tell his story to the police, The prose­

cutor knew that Mr. Huezo's jury, like all juries, was biased in the sense that 

it believed that the police are the gocd guys that no innocent person should be 

hesitant to talk to. 

Nevertheless, the prosecutor encouraged the jury tc feed its inherent pre-

judices and infer Mr. Huezo's guilt because he exercised his constitutional right 
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to refuse to tell his story to the police. This was not done in a vacuum, but 

was cornnitted in the context of a trial wherein (1) the prosecutor also cornnitted 

misconduct by violating the nPtion in limine and solicited Mr. Huezo I s opinion 

testillPny on his accusers' credibility (SAG 4-9); (2) the prosecutor ccmnitted 

misconduct when it improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Huezo (SAG 

at 14-17); (3) the State unilaterally decided not to preserve a blanket that 

was potentially useful to Mr. Huezo's defense (SAG at 27-30); (4) Mr. Huezo's 

attorney deficiently perfonned by refusing to cross-examine and impeach Bonnie, 

and by refusing to adequately cross-examine and impeach Tamny with her prior 

inconsistents and rredical findings ( SAG at 20-27); and ( 5) two young girls' 

testillPny, regardless of their veracity, undoubtedly invoked the jury's syrnpa;; 

thy. 

, In light of this record and the c.ilrcurnstances at trial, the prosecutor's 

use of Mr. Huezo's silence against him was both ill-intentioned and flagrant, 

and therefore was not amenable to curative instructions. State v. J!)nery, 174 

Wn.2d 741, 762-63, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)(holding that certain carments calculated 

to inflame the passions of the jury are not amenable to curative instructions). 

And this is because: 

Where evidence is admitted which is inherently prejudicial and of 
such a nature as to be m:,st likely to impress itself upon the minds 
of the jurrors, a subsequent withdrawal of the evidence, even when 
accompanied by an instruction to disregard, cannot logically be 
said to remove the prejudicial impression. 

state v. Suleski, 67 Wn.2d 45, 51, 406 P.2d 613 (1965). The decision be­

low conflicts with the biooing precedent that prohibits the prosecutor fran using 

Mr. Huezo's silence as substantive evidence of his guilt, and with case law show­

ing that the prosecutor's miSCOl1duct was prejudicial, flagrant and ill-intentioned. 

Accordingly, Mr. Huezo ought to be granted a new trial. 
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(C) THE DEX::ISION BELOW CDNFLICTS WITH BINDING PRECEIIENI' PROHIBITING TllE 
PROSEUnDR FROO SHIFTING THE BURDEN OF PROOF CNro MR, HUEZO, 

'I'he decision belc,,,., not only conflicts with precedent prohibiting the state 

from shifting the bµrden of proof onto the defendant, but it also ignores the 

record and mischaracterizes the prosecutor's misconduct as simply an attack on 

Mr. Huezo's credibility. Slip op. at 22-23. 

The State bears the burden of proving "beyond a reasonable doubt, every 

element necessary to constitute the crime with which the defendant is charged." 

In re Glasrnann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 713, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). It is improper for the 

prosecutor to argue or imply that the burden of proof rests with the defendant. 

State v. Thorgenson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 453, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Because the defend­

ant has no duty to present evidence, the prosecutor generally cannot cornnent on 

the defendant's failure to present evidence. Id. at 453. 

tion: 

At Mr. Huezo' s trial, the prosecutor stated the follc,,,.,ing during SUIIIOO.>'. 

!Luna Huezo] took the stand and he told you, •.• [t]hat there .is also 
this thing that hapR':!:1ed the morning of 2-8 where [Tantny] witnessed 
him pulling [Bonnie s) hair •••• And .sanething about Tantny not w.iping 
herself. 

You know what's interest? Think about this. 

No question was ever asked of Kelly about any of that, Huh. Don't 
you think that's weird? No question was asked of [Bonnie) about any 
of that. None of that was mentioned in opening statement. Why is 
that? Because it only came in through him. Nobody else was asked 
about any of that. 'lllink about that. Because it's not true. 

Slip op. at 22, Under State v. Dixon, 150 Wn.App. 46, 207 P.3d 459 (2009), 

the prosecutor's aforementioned surrrnation was reversible error, for the prose­

cutor's statements suggested that Mr. Huezo had a duty to present testirronial 

evidence of independent witnesses in order to prove his innocence. In Dixon, 

the defendant was stopped for driving with a suspended or revoked license. Id. 

at 49, The officer arrested Dixon and searched her purse. Id. The purse con-
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tained rnethamphetarnine. Id. At trial, the officer testified that there was a ,,., 

passenger in Dixon's car, but the officer did not write d=1 the passenger's 

name. Id. at 51. 

During closing argument, defense counsel argued that there was doubt as 

to Dixon's control over the purse, because there was an unknown person in the 

car, Id. at 52. The prosecutor responded to this argument in rebuttal closing 

argument: 

I want to pose this question to you: Why didn't [Dixon] bring that 
passenger into !:§!Stfy for her? She knew who he was. He was her friend, 
that's what Deputy Stewart said. 

And if that assenger had anything at all to say, don't you think 
[Dixon] -rould have contacted him? She knew who he was. lie was tn: 
car. She didn't call him. 

That passenger-- what they're suggesting is that passenger put the 
drugs in her purse, but there's no evidence of that whatsoever, what­
soever ••• Did the defendant make any statement that "he put that in 
my purse"? No. We didn't hear any of that testimony. There's nothing, 
absolutely nothing that indicates that that passenger had anythlng 
to do with this. 

SAG at 15-16. 

We decision below that the prosecutor's statements was merely an attack 

on Mr. Huezo's credibility, and not an act of shifting the burden of proof,-~ 

clearly conflicts with the above precedent, including but not limited to Dixon. 

Accordingly, Mr. Huezo ought to be granted a new trial, 

(d) THE DECTSICXil BELOW C!JNFLICI'S WITH BINDING PRECEDEW BY LIMITING MR. 
HUEZO' S OJNSTITUTIONAL RIGHr 'ro aJNFR0Nr THE WI'lllESSES AGAINST l!IM 
FACE 'IO FACE. 

Under the Sixth amendment to the united states Constitution, Mr. Huezo 

has tlhe right to confront his accuser in court by cross-exarning the witness on 

the witness stand. Chio v. Roberts, 448. u.s. 56, 63, 100 S.ct. 2531, 2537, 65 
L.Ed.2<l ~7; ((1'$.llJ))), The Washington state Constitution provides aroore stringent 
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confrontation right, in that the accused has a constitutional right "to meet 

the witnesses against him face to face." Const. art. 1, § 22; state v. Foster, 

135 Wn,2d 441, 957 P.2d 712 (1998). 

"Where cross-examination would serve to expose untrustworthiness or in­

accuracy, denial of confrontation 'would be constitutional error of the first 

magnitude and no am:mnt of showing of want of prejudice would =e it. 111 ~, 

103 Wn.2d at 175 (quoting Davis v. Alaska, 415 u.s. 308, 318, 94 S.ct. 1105, 39 

t.Ed.2d 347 (1974). 

At Mr. Huezo' s trial, the prosecutor was allowed to present Tamny' s and 

Bonnie's testimonial evidence via written fonn. This was error, for it violated 

Mr. Huezo's right to confrontation by limiting his scope of cross---€Xalllination, 

See state v. Garcia, 179 Wn.2d 828, 844, 318 P.3d 266 (2014), and the trial c:, 

court allowed it without first finding that both Tarrrny and Bonnie were unavaU 

lable. 

'the decision below agreed with the state that the trial court place.:I 00 

limit on Mr. Huezo's right to cross-examine Tamny and Bonnie as to their written 

answers to questions, Slip op. at 9-1 O. The decision below recognized that an 

impermissible limitation on the scope of cross--exam.ination violates a defendant's 

right to C011frontation, Garcia, supra, but went on to erroneously state that 

Mr. Huezo cited to no authority supporting his contention that written answers 

to the State's questions violated the confrontation clause. 

overlooking Garcia, supra, the lower court further supported its decision 

by pointing out that the state may introduce as an exhibit various writings with­

out breaching the confrontation clause, although said writings inculpate the 

accused; that ER 611 (a) implicitly grants the trial court authority to permit a 

witness to answer a question in writing to prevent embarassment and to effectuate 
the ascertainment of the truth; that 'I'armly's written answer was a result of her 
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erru:iarassment; that Bonnie's written answer was a result of Bonnie encountering 

difficulty in answering after sitting on the witness stand for twenty-five min­

utes; and that state v. Thanas H., 101 Conn.App. 363, 369-70 (2007)(out--of-state 

opinion) found no violation of the confrontation clause when a child victim pro­

vided a written answer to a goestion asked by the State in a sexual assault 

trial. Slip op. at 11-12. 

In fine, the lower court's decision cited no authority for its policy­

changing rule that ER 611(a) grants a trial court authority to permit a witness 

to answer a question in writing to prevent erru:iarassment and to effectuate the 

ascertainment of the truth, .nor did the decision explain why it relied on non­

binding precedent over our state's supreme Court's decision -- Garcia, supra -­

that an impermissible limitation on the scope of cross-examination violates a 

defendant's. right to confrontation. 

By allowing both Tanrny and Bonnie to answer critical questions in writing, 

the trial court limited the scope of cross.;exarnination by preventing the jury 

fran evaluating those witnesses' demeanor and overall credibility, which cannot 

be properly judged by reviewing a piece of paper, This was done without the 

trial court first.finding that TamTIY and Bonnie were wnavailable, a fact that 

the lower court overlooked. 

'.!he foregoing reasons ctamnstrate that the lower court's decision is in 

conflict with binding precedent and thus Mr. Huezo ought to be granted a new 

trial. 

(e) WE DECISION BEWW a:,ra;'LICI'S wrrn BINDING PREX::EDENl' PERMITl'ING MR. 
HUEZO ID PRESENT EVIDENCE OF HIS SEXUAL M::lRALITY OR DECENCY. 

Evidence of a person's character generally is inadmissible, but a criminal 

defendant may present evidence of a "pertinent trait of character." ER 404(a)(1). 

SexUal morality is a pertinent trait character trait in cases involving sexual 
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offenses. State v. Griswold, 98 Wn.App. 817, 991 P.2d 657 (2000); state v. 

woods, 117 Wash.app. 278, 280, 70 l?.3d 976, 977 (2003). 

Mr. Huezo rroved to admit evidence through four witnesses regarding his 

sexual mrality or decency. 'rtle trial court excluded the testimny and rrost of 

the witnesses•,' despite the fact that both Griswold and Woods, supra, indicate 

that the question of whether testimnial evidence is admissible or not should 

focus on whether the trait for sexual mrality is pertinent to the underlying 

crime, not whether the defendant's reputation for sexual mrality is based on 

perception in the carrnunity, as the State argUed. 

'The decision belc,,,, misreads Woods and Griswold and interprets them to 

stand for the proposition that a defendant seeking to prove sexual rrorality must 

"properly proffer reputation testimny". Slip op. at 14-15. 'Ihe Court of Appeals 

cited to state v. Thach, 126 Wn.App. 297, 315 1 106 P.3d 782 (2005) for the pro­

position that, in order to offer reputation testimny, a witness may lay a found­

ation establis)jting that she bases the subject's reputationcon perceptions in 

the ccmnunity. Slip op. at 13. Proceeding, the lower court then found that al­

though Mr. Huezo's offer of proof qualified his sister-in-law with knc,,,,ledge of 

his reputation for sexual decency, said.reputation was not formed within a gen­

eralized and neutral camrunity and therefore his sister~in-law's testimony was 

inadmissible. Slip op. at 15, 

In reaching this decision, the lower court not only overlooked the fact 

that it is absurd and 1i111WOrkable to require witnesses frcrn a generalized and 

neutral camn.inity to testify about a defendant's trait for sexual norality or 

decency, but the decision belc,,,, also ignores that Wood and Griswold indicate, 

oorrectly, that Mr. Huezo was not required to lay, a foundation for camrunity 

perception concerning his sexual rrorality or decency (trait of character). 
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For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Huezo ought to be granted a new trial, " 

where he can properly put on a canplete defense to the accusations of sexual 

misconduct. 

(f) TllE DECISION BELOW CDNFLICI'S WITH PRECEDENT GUARANI'EEING MR. HUEZO 
HIS CONSTI'IUTIONAL RIGHT ID EFFID:TIVE ASSISTANCE OF OJUNSEL. 

A criminal defendant's right to the assistance of counsel derives fran 

the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and article 1, section 22 of the 

Washington State Constitution. Under those provisions, a criminal defense attor­

ney has the constitutional duty to provide assistance that is effective, Where 

a defense attomey makes errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as 

the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment, the attorney's 

perfonnance is constitutionally deficient. Where that deficiency deprives the 

defendant of fair proceedings, the defendant has suffered prejudice because ,;n 

there is a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable. 

Unreliable results caused by defense counsel's prejudicial deficient perfonnance 

are constitutionally intolerable. In re Yung-Cheng Tsai, 183 Wn.2d 91, 351 P.3d 

138 (2015). 

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. To"pre­

vail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the appellant must show 

both (1) that defense counsel's representation was deficient, and (2) that the 

deficient representation prejudiced the defendant. Representation is deficient 

if after considering all the circumstances, the perfonnance falls below an ob---

j ecti ve standard of reasonableness. Prejudice exists if there is a reasonable 

probability that, except for counsel• s errors, the result of the proceeding 

would have differed. state v. Estes, 193 \'In.App. 479, 488, 372 P.3d 163 (2016). 

(i) MR. HUEZO'S WJNSEL FAILED ID CROSS-EXAMINE BJNNIE AND IMPEAOl OOl'll 
HER AND TAl+!Y WI'lll 'll!EIR RESPECI'IVE PRIOR INCDNSISTENI' STA'I'EMEM'S 

AND THIS OJNSTITIJI'ES INEFFECI'IVE ASSISTANCE OF OJUNSEL. 
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TAW1Y 1S PRIOR INQJNSISTEM' STATEMENT 

Mr, Huezo's counsel knew that Tamny originally told the police that Mr. 

Huezo actually penetrated her first with his finger and then his penis, but he 

refused to confront her with these statements of hers despite the fact that she, 

at trial, never once stated that Mr, huezo penetrated her vagina. Mr, huezo's 

counsel also knew that the State's own doctor found no physical evidence support­

ing Tamny's original allegation that Mr, Huezo penetrated her vagina. In fact, 

Dr. Phipps averred that she would not expect to see tears or lesions in the 

vaginal area if a penis rubbed against the area, rather than entered the vagina. 

Slip op. at 7. Tanmy told the police before trial that Mr. Huezo penetrated her 

vagina with lx>th his fingers and his penis, and Dn. Phipps found no evidence of 

this, but his counsel did not impeach Tamny en the issue and thereby !rake these 

facts known or clear to the jury. 

BONNIE"S PRIOR INCDNSIS'l'ffll' Slre.TiMEN:I' 

Mr. Huezo' s counsel also knew that Bonnie originally told the police that 

(1) Mr. Huezo touched her en several occasions between the ages of 8 and 9; t2) 

Mr. Huezo would cane into her bedroom and touch her vagina; and (3) Mr. Huezo, 

on another occasion, carried her into her rOCtll, took his clothes off and touched 

her vagina, but when Bonnie testified at trial that rnr. huezo only touched her 

once, counsel declined to impeach her withher prior inconsistent statements: he 

refused to cross-examine Bonnie at all, but instead let her unimpeached testi~ 

rrony go straight to the jury without any kirrl of adversarial testing. 

Mr. Huezo's trial was essentially a credibility contest: would the jury 

believe Tanmy and BOnnie' s accusations, or l;C)Uld it J;lE!lieve Mr. Huezo' s claim 

of innocence? There was no physical evidence that Mr. Huezo sexually assulted 

Tanmy or Bonnie, just Tamny and Bonnie's new version of abuse. Accordingly, it 
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was objectively unreasonable for Mr, huezo's counsel to fail to impeach Tamny 

and Eonnie with their prior inconsistent statements to the J;Xllice, and therefore 

his performance was deficient. 

Courts generally entrust cross-examination techniques, like other matters 

of trial strategy, to the professional discretion of counsel. In assessing a c 

claim that counsel did not effectively cross-examine a witness, the court need 

not dete:rnct.ne why trial oounsel did not oross-examine if that approach falls ,, 

within the range of reasonable representation. Xn re Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 720, 

101 P.3d 1 (2004). 

A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Canpe­

tent representation requires thoroughness and preparation teasonably necessary 

for the representation. state v. A,N.G., 158 Wn.2d 91, 225 P.3d 956 (2010)(ci<e 

ting RPC 1,1). 

thus: 

ni.e decision below excuses Mr. Huezo's oounsel's deficient performance 

" ••• counsel may have deemed that the testi.Ioon¥ of the victims by it­
self raised questions of their credibility, that cross-examining i:. 
the victims more would have obtained no additional helpful informa­
tion, and that a cross-examination young girls might dismay the j .. : 
jury." 

Slip op. at 24. But the record, objectively viewed as a whole, supports 

a finding ( 1) that oounsel had no reasonable basis to conclude that the testi­

mony of the victims by itself raised questions of their credibility; and (2) 

that Mr. Huezo's claim of innocence would have been significantly bolstered if 

counsel =uld have showed the jury that his stepdaughters lied to the police 

about what he allegedly did to them. Afterall, if the jury was provided evi­

dence that Tarrmy and Bonnie lied about Mr. Huezo in the beginning, it likely 

would have, when weighing the evidence and dete:rnd.ning the credibility of these 
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witnesses, detennined that they were also lying in the end when they testified 

to the new version of sexual aDlSE!, 

/.breover, it is objectively unreasonable to jettison one's strongest _; 

piece of impeachment evidence, and argument for destroying Tarm:y and Bonnie's 

credibility before the jury on the speculative basis that showing the jury Tammy 

and Bonnie lied in an egregious way about their stepdad would dismay the jury, 

Allowing Tanmy and Bonnie's new version of sexual aDlSE! to go to the jury uncon­

tested was the m;:,st certain way to turn Mr. Huezo's jury against him, 

In fine, it cannot be said, on this record, that the lower court's rati­

onilizations for counsel's decision not to =ss-examine Bonnie, and to not im­

peach Bonnie and Tal11l1y with their prior inconsistent statements fall within the 

range of reasonable representation. Accordingly, the decision below conflicts 

with precedent requiring counsel to provide Mr. Huezo effective as.sistance of 

counsel, and Mr. Huezo ought to be granted a new trial. 

(ii) MR. HUEZO' S (l){JNSEL FAILED 'ID MJVE FDR DISMISSAL IN RESPONSE 'IO THE 
S'I'ATE'S FAILURE 'ID PRESERVE PCII'ENl'IALLY USEFUL EVIDENCE, 

Talllny told the police that Mr. Huezo stuffed a blanket in her rrouth to 

keep her quiet while sexually assaulting her. detective Santoy chose not to se­

cure and preserve this piece· of material evidence because, according to him, it 

=ldn't have any part in helping the case because it was possibJ:e that saliva 

. 1rould be on the blanket anyway. 

Due process requires the state to disclose exculpatory evidence to the 

defense, as well as a related duty to preserve such evidence for use by the 

defense. state v. Donahue, 105 Wn,App. 67, 77, 18 P,3d 608 (2001). Material 

exculpatory evidence must posses an exculpatory value that was apparent. But if 

the evidence is only "potentially useful" due process is not violated unless the 

defendant can:·<Show bad faith on the part of the police. Id, at 477. Potentially 
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useful evidence is that "of which no m:,re can be said than it could have been 

subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant." 

State v. Groth, 163 Wn.App, 548, 557, 261 l?.3d 183 (2011). 

Here, the blanket was irrmediately recognizable as having ;:otentially exculpatory 

value to Detective Santoy, but he unilaterally made the decision to not preserve 

it. for testing by the defense; this prevented the defense fran testing and using 

the potentially favorable test results to discredit Tarrmy, a key to procuring 

Mr. Huezo's exoneration. Detective Santoy's decision constitutes bad faith, 

Acoordingly, Mr, Huezo' s counsel had a duty under the due precess prong 

of the Washington State and U.S. Constitutions (amendments V & XIV) and CrR 8,3 

(b) to rrove the trial court for dismissal due to governmental misconduct in 

failing to preserve the blanket, especially since the governmental misccnduot 

was prejudicial to Mr. Huezo's right to a fair trial. However, Mr. Huezo's counsel 

made no such motion, and therefore his perfonnance, coupled with his other de­

ficiencies in the trial, fell below the standard of reasonableness and deprived 

Mr. Huezo the right to effective representation; this, in turn, caused Mr. Huezo 

significant prejudice: he was thus forced to face Tamny's inculpatory allegations 

at trial without any independent evidemce showing or tending to show that she 

was unworthy of belief. 

The decision below merely asserts that Mr. Huezo did not show that the 

State's preservation of the blanket would have advanced his defense, or that the 

state's failure to preserve the blanket was in bad faith. Slip op. at 24-25, 

But this view illistrates Mr. Huezo's point: the State's failure to pre­

serve the blanket prevented him fran advancing his factual-innooence defense. 

Mr. Huezo denied the allegations against him, maintained his innocence, and if 

the blanket would have been tested and such test showed that it did not contain 
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Tanroy' s DNA, this 1rould have supr:orted his claim of innocence (i.e. , advanced 

his defense). Moreover, Detective Santoy knew the blanket was potentially excu-, 

lpatory evidence, and the law was clear that he had a duty to preserve it, but 

he chose not to because he decided it wouldn't help the case. This wasn't his 

decision to rna.Jj:e, and he had no authority to make it, and it was prejudicial to 

Mr. Huezo' s right to a fair trial. Hence the State's failure to preserve the 

blanket was a due process violation carmitted in bad faith. 

' In failing to move for dismissal due to the government's bad faith fail-

ure to preserve the blanket, Mr. Huezo's counsel's perfonrance was both defic~,­

±ent and prejudicial, and therefore the lower court's decision conflicts with 

precedent not only requiring Mr. Huezo's counsel to be thorough and reason.ably 

prepared in his representation of Mr. Huezo, but also requiring counsel to pro­

vide Mr. Huezo effective representation. Accordingly, Mr. Huezo ought to be .c 

granted a new trial, 

(iii) MR. HUEZO'S OlUNSEL FAILEll ID MJVE THE TRIAL OlURT FOR PERMISSION 
'ID WITHDRAW FRClll MR. HUEZO' S CASE OOE ID MENI'AL IMPAIRMENI'. 

At the time of Mr. Huezo' s trial, his counsel had lost three (3) siblings 

to cancer (within the last 13 m::mths) , and during the trial counsel's niece died. 

'!he record reflects that these familial tragedies materially affected counsel's 

mental condition and hence his ability to adequately represent Mr. Huezo. In: 

fact,· counsel disclosed to the court that he was not able to f=s on preparing 

for Mr. Huezo's trial, and the record bears this out: he failed to cross-examine 

BOnnie and impeach her with her prior inconsistent statanent to the police; he 

failed to impeach Tamny with her prior inconsistent statement to the police; and 

he failed to move for a dismissal when the State ccmnitted misconduct by failing 

to preserve the blanket.for testing. 
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RPC 1.16 required Mr. Huezo's counsel to withdraw fran representing him, 

but he did not. J:nstead, the trial court gave counsel one day to rest, and , 1..l 

allowed counsel to prooeed with the trial without looking into his mental ability 

to adequately represent Mr. huezo. The deaths of counsel's family members mat .. 

erially impaired his ability to adequately represent Mr. Huezo, and he ought to 

have rroved to withdraw fran the case; his failure to do so constitutes deficient 

performance that was prejudicial to Mr. Huezo' s right to effective assistance 

of counsel. 

'Itle decision below found that the record does not evisdence that any of 

the tragedies impacted Mr. Huezo' s counsel's ability to represent Mr. Huezo 

during trial. Slip op. at 23-24. This finding conflicts with not only the evi­

dentiary record, but also the precedent guaranteeing Mr. Huezo a right to 

effective representation. Accordingly, Mr. Huezo ought to be granted a new trial. 

(iv) 'lllE DEXcISION BELOW CXJNFLicrs WITH PREOIDENl' PROVIDING WAT AN 
ACCI.MJIATION OF ERRORS MAY DENY A DEF'ENDANT A FAIR TRIAL, 

An accumulation of errors that do not individually require reversal may 

still deny a defendant a fair trial. state v. eoe, 101 Wn,2d 772, 789 1 684 P.2d 

668 (1984). Here, Mr. Huezo argues that CllJIITlUlative error deprived him of a 

fair trial, Under the cunmulative error dootrine, the court may reverse an 

appellant's convictions if the canbined effect of trial errors effectively de­

nied the appellant his right to a fair trial, even if each error alone 'WOUld be 

hannless, state v. Weber, 159 Wn,2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). Under the 

cunmulative error dootrine, a defendant may be entitled to a new trial when cum­

mulative errors produce a trial that is fundamentally unfair. State v. Emery, 

174 Wn,2d 741, 766, 278 P,3d 653 (2012). 

, JM:~ ,luezo' s trial was a parade of errors: the jury saw the trial court 
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allow the State to question Mr. Huezo in a rranner that had him vouching for 

his accusers' credibility; saw the prosecutor camient on and use Mr. Huezo's 

right to remain silent as substantive evidence of his guilt; saw the prosecutor 

shift the bl,lrden of proof onto Mr. Huezo so it became, in the jury's mind, his 

duty to prove his innocence; and saw Mr. Huezo's attorney let the alleged vic­

tims' trial testirrony go untested as if it was beyond question. 

And what the jury saw is not all: there are the errors it did not see: 

both Tarrmy and Bonnie made other sribus allegations against Mr. Hue.zo that were 

not supported by the examining doctor, and that were inconsistent with what they 
told the jury at tr;tal; the jury did not see a blanket that did net contain 

Tarrrny's DNA; the jury did not see the lack of focus and preparation by Mr. Huezo's 

counsel because of his mental impairment assooiamd with the death of his loved 

ones. The jury's verdict was distorted by the e:r:r.ors it saw and did not see; this 

renders the jury's verdict: unreliable. State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 

125 (2014): 

The CU11111Ulative effect of repetitive prejudicial prosecutor mis­
conduct may be so flagrant that nc instruction or series of in­
structions can erase their cx:mbined prejudicial effect. 

Id. at 443. The decision of the lower court found that even if it assumed 

errors in Mr. Huezo' s trial they were nevertheless minimal and harmless. This 

firrling conflicts with both the precedent on CU11111Ulative error doctrine and the 

evidentiary record, which shows that the canbined effect of all the errors ren~ 

ders Mr, Huezo' s trial fundamentally unfair. Mr. Huezo ought to be granted a new 

trial so that he can receive a fair trial. 

E. OJNCLUSION 

For the reasons discussed above, Mr, HUezo respectfully requests that this 

court grant his petition for review and ( 1) allow further briefing on the issues, 

or ( 2) grant him a ne,,; trial. 

DATED this ' I g" ~ day of H A R_ L \-+- ., 2021 • 

I 'tt Respectfully sul::rni ea, 
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No. 36001-6-III 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FEARING, J, -Juan Luna Huezo appeals from convictions for raping and 

molesting two stepdaughters. He challenges the sufficiency of evidence, He also claims 

the trial court committed error when permitting the stepdaughters to answer some 

questions in writing and when excluding testimony from family members of his sexual 

morality and decency. We find no error and affirm. 

FACTS 

We gather our facts from trial testimony. We expand on some of the facts when 

describing the case's procedure. 

Juan Luna Huezo is the stepfather of Tammy, born April 5, 2005, and Bonnie, 

born July 31, 2006, both pseudonyms. The girl's mother began dating Luna Huezo in 
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November 2009 and married him in January 2010, Luna Huezo is more than two decades 

older than the girls. 

At age nine, Tammy became the subject of sexual abuse by Juan Luna Huezo. 

Luna Huem began sexually abusing Bonnie when she was eight years old, 

At trial, Tammy testified that Juan Luna Huezo sexually touched her on several 

occasions and in multiple locations in Kennewick, including at an apartment her family 

rented at the Hawaiian Village Apartments, at her famlly's home on Steptoe Street, at her 

aunt Niashia Morales Enrlquez's residence, and in a vehicle, The sexual touching 

included Luna Huezo placing his hand on Tammy's private parts, placing his private 

parts against her body, and placing his penis inside her mouth. 

Tammy further testified that Juan Luna Huezo tied her hands behind her back with 

duct tape, Luna Huezo obtained a condom from a blue and gray backpack in the 

bathroom and placed it on his penis. Luna Huezo also rubbed oil on his penis, During 

trial, Luna Huezo confirmed that he used condoms and oil when engaging in sexual 

activity. 

According to Tammy, Juan Luna Huezo also sexually abused her sister. Once 

Tammy asked Luna Huezo whether he was "doing the same thing [to Bonnie]," and he 

responded that he was. Report of Proceedings (RP) at 271, 

Bonnie testified that Juan Luna Huezo touched her private area once. Bonnie 

further testified that she witnessed Juan Luna Huezo touch Tammy's private parts while 
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Tammy slept at the Steptoe house, Bonnie witnessed Luna Huezo take Tammy into his 

bedroom, at which time she heard Tammy crying. 

On February 8, 2017, friends of eleven-year-old Tammy saw her crying during 

fifth grade music class. After speaking with Tammy, her friends informed their teacher 

about their concerns, Tammy's teacher then contacted Sarah McMullin, the school 

counselor, who spoke with Tammy. 

Tammy and her ten-year-old sister, Bonnie, disclosed to Sarah McMutlin that Juan 

Luna Huezo sexually abused them, McMullin contacted the Kennewick Police 

Department. On February 8, 2017, Mauri Murstig, a forensic child interviewer at the 

Sexual Advocacy Response Center, interviewed both children, 

On the night of February 8, 2017, Kennewick Police Department Detective Jose 

Santoy obtained warrants to search Tammy and Bonnie's home and the residence of thcit 

· aunt, Niashia Morales Enriquez, Police found condoms, duct tape, zip ties, and a zebra 

blanket. Law enforcement neither preserved nor tested the blanket for DNA. 

At some unidentified date, Dr, Shannon Phipps, later a trial witness, examined 

Tammy. Tammy was fearful and withdrawn while relating her history to Dr. Phipps. 

Tammy informed the physician that "she (Tammy] was too small," such that Juan Luna 

Huezo's penis did not fit inside her, RP at 161. Dr. Phipps' found no physical 

abnormalities in Tammy. 
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PROCEDURE 

The State of Washington charged Juan Luna Huezo with one count of rape of a 

child in the first degree for conduct involving Tammy and three counts of child 

molestation in the first degree, with one count involving Tammy and two counts 

involving Bonnie. The one count of rape ofa child in the first degree and the first count 

of child molestation in the first degree alleged aggravating circumstances of an ongoing 

pattern of sexual abuse and breach of a position of trust. The second count of child 

molestation in the first degree alleged the aggravating circumstance of violation of a 

position of trust. 

During a pretrial interview with defense counsel, Tammy disclosed that sexual 

contact imposed by Juan Luna Huezo occurred fifty-eight times at the Hawaiian Village 

apartment and that her mother was home on about thirty of the occasions, Tammy also. 

disclosed that sexual contact occurred twenty times at Niashia Morales Enriquez's 

residence and thirty times at the Steptoe house. 

Before trial, the trial court granted the State's motion in Ii mine precluding a 

witness from assessing the credibility of another witness. Also at the beginning of trial, 

the court entertained the State's motion to exclude character and reputation evidence. 

Juan Luna Huezo intended to have four witnesses testify to his sexual morality and 

decency: his ex-spouse, Laura Martinez; his daughter, Alexis Huezo; and his two sisters­

in-law, Nancy Morales Enriquez and Niashia Morales Enriquez. The trial court allowed 
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Luna Huezo to present offers of proof before ruling on the State's motion to exclude the 

family member's testimony, During the offer of proof, Luna Huezo did not ask Alexis 

Huezo questions regarding his reputation for sexual morality. He conceded that he failed 

to establish a sufficient foundation for Nancy Morales Enriquez and Niashia Morales 

Enriquez to testify to his reputation in the community, The trial court denied any 

testimony from the four witnesses as to Luna Huezo's morality. 

During her testimony, the State asked Tammy to describe Juan Luna Huezo's 

penis. Tammy did not respond, The State then asked Tammy whether she would prefer 

to write her answer, to which Tammy nodded affinnatively, Defense counsel objected to 

a written answer, but the trial court overruled the objection, Tammy's written answer 

read, "It was long and tiny hair," RP at 264, Defense counsel cross-examined Tammy, 

but did not question her about the one written answer. 

During trial, Tammy did not testify to the the number of times of sexual contact 

she earlier reported to defense counsel. Rather, she testified that Juan Luna Huezo 

touched her privates one time at the Hawaiian Village apartment, put his penis against her 

vagina more than once at the Hawaiian Village apartment, and touched her vagina one 

time at Niashia Morales Enriquez's residence. 

Bonnie testified with difficulty during trial. Bonnie did not answer some 

questions and responded to other questions with "I don't know" or "I don't remember." 

RP at 216-44, Bonnie testified that Juan Luna Huezo touched her private part on one 
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occasion. 

Bonnie did not respond to a State's question of why she did not tell her mother 

about her stepfather's conduct. When she hesitated to answer, the State asked Bonnie to 

write her answer. The trial court overruled defense counsel's objection to a written 

answer. The court commented: 

This child is 11 and has been on the stand since a little after 11 
o'clock. It's now 11:28. This witness is clearly having a difficult time 
responding and answering to questions. , , , 

RP at 228. Bonnie wrote that she did not tell her mother because she thought her mother 

would not believe her. 

When the State asked Bonnie why she did not inform her mother about Tammy's 

crying while being molested by Juan Luna Huezo, Bonnie replied that she was scared. 

When asked by the State why she was scared, Bonnie did not respond. Bonnie wrote her 

response over the defense's objection. The State showed Bonnie's response to the jury. 

Our record does not include the response. Defense counsel chose not to cross-examine 

Bonnie. 

During trial, the forensic child interviewer, Mauri Murstig, explained the concept 

of episodic memory versus script memory: 

[A]sking a child who has experienced that [sexual abuse] for a long 
period of time, you know, they're not going to be able to give you an exact 
number that happened over months or years, And so, you know, what we 
try to do is just one time, more than one time and then try to get them to 
provide as many, you know, if there were specific times they could 
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remember, specific episodes, we try to focus on that. But, you know, it's 
going to be impossible to have them describe every time something 
happened, if it happened, you know, over a long period of time. 

RP at 132. 

Dr. Shannon Phipps, D.O. testified about the physical examination she conducted 

on Tammy, The State's attorney questioned Phipps: "because you don't find any kind of 

physical manifestations in her body, does that mean that no sexual abuse occurred?" RP 

at 154. Dr. Phipps answered: 

No, it doesn't. The body is incredible for healing, And I would 
relate this back to the example thatI gave between an acute and a non-acute 
visit. 

If you're walking down the street and you twist your knee. You 
might have some swelling initially. If you go immediately for something, 
that might be perceived. Whereas if you wait three or four days, the 
swelling may have resolved, there may notbe a physical finding yet the 
injury still occurred, so the body can heal. 

RP at 154, Phipps averred that she would not expect to see tears or lesions in the vaginal 

area if a penis rubbed against the area, rather than entered the vagina. Finally, Dr. Phipps 

declared that "[i]t's more typical not to find findings than to find findings" in sexual 

assault exams. RP at 161. 

Kennewick Police Department Detective Jose Santoy testified during trial. He 

explained the reason for not testing or preserving for evidence the zebra blanket. 

[T]he blanket, like I said, it was in a general area of the bedroom and 
any of the children could have touched it, to include the defendant and the 
victims. 
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RP at 205, After resting its case at trial, the State dismissed count 4, a child molestation 

charge involving Bonnie, 

Juan Luna Huezo testified on his behalf. He denied any inappropriate sexual 

contact with either Tammy or Bonnie, During cross-examination, the State asked: 

Isn't it true during that interview you told Detective Santoy that 
[Tammy] would never lie about anything this serious; isn't that true? 

RP at 401. On defense counsel's objection and the tr.ial court's overruling the objection, 

the State proceeded to ask the question two more times, once about Tammy and once 

about Bonnie. The State also asked Luna Huezo about his comment about Tanuny's 

hygiene issues the morning of his arrest: 

This is the fir~t we're hearing about all this; Isn't that true? 

RP at 399. 

Trial defense counsel suffered the death of his niece during the trial. In response 

to the niece's death, counsel stated that "a brief continuance would be sufficient" in order 

to ensure his effectiveness at trial. RP at 105, The trial court granted a one-day recess 

for counsel to rest before continuing with trial. On return from the one-day recess, trial 

counsel made no further mention of his need for additional continuances. Trial counsel 

had tragically lost three siblings to cancer in the thirteen months preceding his niece's 

death. 

During summation, the State's attorney commented: 
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[Juan Luna Huezo] took the stand and he told you, .. , [t]hat there is 
also this thing that happened the morning of 2-8 where Tammy witnessed 
him pulling Bonnie's hair. , , , And something about Tammy not wiping 
herself, 

You know what's interest? Think about this, 
No question was ever asked of Kelly about any ofthat. Huh, Don't 

you think that's weird? No question was asked of Bonnie about any of that. 
None of that was mentioned in opening statement. Why is that? Because it 
only came in through him, Nobody else was asked about any of that. 
Think about that. Why? Because it's not true, 

RP at 463-64, The prosecuting attorney added: 

He [Juan Luna Huezo] waited an entire year to now tell his side, 
Didn't tell it that day. Maybe he's had some time to think about it. 

RP at 464, 

The jury found Juan Luna Huezo guilty on all three counts and further found the 

presence of the aggravating circumstances, 

LAW AND ANALYSIS 

On appeal, Juan Luna Huezo asserts the State presented insufficient evidence to 

convict him of any of the three crimes. He also assigns error to the trial court's 

permission to Tammy and Bonnie to write answers to some of the State's questions and 

to the trial court's exclusion of testimony about his sexual morality and decency, 

Right to Confrontation 

Juan Luna Huezo asserts that the trial court denied him his right to confront 

Tammy and Bonnie as witnesses when it permitted each to testify via writing, He 

maintains that written answers limited his scope of cross-examination, He adds that the 
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trial court should have found the witnesses unavailable before allowing them to write 

their responses. 

The State responds that the trial court did not breach Juan Luna Huezo's 

confrontation rights because Luna Huezo still had the opportunity to cross-examine each 

witness regarding her written answers. According to the State, the trial court placed no 

limits on the cross-examination. We agree with the State. 

The United States Constitution states that., "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the 

accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him, ... " 

U.S. CONST. amend. VI. The Washington State Constitution provides the accused the 

right "to meet the witnesses against him face to face." CONST. art. I, § 22. The 

Washington State Supreme Court applies the state constitution clause consistent with the 

reading of the federal confrontation clause. State v. Lui, 179 Wn.2d 457,469, 315 P.3d 

493 (2014), 

The confrontation clause primarily secured the right of cross-examination. State v. 

Foster, 135 Wn.2d 441,456,957 P.2d 712 (1998). An impermissible limitation on the 

scope of cross-examination violates a defendant's right to confrontation. State v. Garcia, 

179 Wn.2d 828, 844, 318 P.3d 266 (2014). The confrontation clause is generally 

satisfied, however, "' if defense counsel receives wide latitude at trial to question 

witnesses.'" State v. Dye, 170 Wn. App. 340,346,283 P.3d 1130 (2012) aff'd 178 

Wn,2d 541, 309 1109 (2013) (quoting Pennsylvania v, Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 53, 107 S. Ct 
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989, 94 L. Ed, 2d 40 (1987)), The trial court placed no limit on Juan Luna Huezo's 

counsel cross-examining Tammy and Bonnie as to their written answers to questions. 

Juan Luna Huezo cites no authority to support his contention that written answers 

to the State's questions violate the confrontation clause. We note that the State may 

introduce as an exhibit various writings, without breaching the confrontation clause, even 

though the content of the writing inculpates the accused. Miller v. Stovall, 742 F.3d 642, 

651 (6th Cir. 2014); State v. Price, 154 Wn. App. 480,491,228 P.3d 1276 (2009). In 

State v, Thomas H., 101 Conn. App. 363, 369-70, 922 A.2d 214 (2007), the reviewing 

court found no confrontation clause violation when the trial court permitted a child victim 

to provide a written answer to a question asked by the state on direct examination in a 

sexual assault trial, which question asked what happened after defendant ordered her to 

get in bed with him. The writing of the response occurred in the presence of the 

defendant during trial, and defendant was given the opportunity to cross-examine the 

victim regarding the response. 

ER 611 (a) provides: 

The court shall exercise reasonable control over the mode and order 
of interrogating witnesses and presenting evidence so as to (1) make the 
interrogation and presentation effective for the ascertainment of the truth, 
(2) avoid needless consumption of time, and (3) protect witnesses from 
harassment or undue embarrassment. 

This rule impliedly grants the trial court authority to permit a witness to answer a 

question in writing to prevent embarrassment and to effectuate ascertainment of the truth, 
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A girl could understandably be embarrassed when asked to describe a man's penis, The 

court also possessed the authority to permit some written answers from Donnie after she 

had sat in the witness stand for twenty-five minutes and encountered difficulty 

answering. 

Evidence of Sexual Morality and Decency 

Juan Luna Huezo next asserts that the trial court erred by excluding evidence of 

his sexual morality and decency, He argues that the trial court applied the wrong analysis 

when requiring a foundation to establish a community perception of morality. 

We review the trial court's rnling on admissibility of evidence for abuse of 

discretion. State v. Woods, 117 Wn. App. 278,280, 70 P.3d 976 (2003). Generally, 

evidence of a person's character is inadmissible, but a criminal defendant may present 

evidence of a "pertinent trait of character." ER 404(a)(l ), In cases involving sexual 

offenses, sexual morality is a pertinent character trait. State v. Woods, 117 Wn. App. at 

280; State v. Harper, 35 Wn. App. 855, 859-60, 670 P.2d 296 (1983). 

ER 405 controls the methods of proving a person's character. The rule declares: 

(a) Reputation. In all cases in which evidence of character or a trait 
of character of a person is admissible, proof may be made by testimony as 
to reputation. On cross examination, inquiry is allowable into relevant 
specific instances of conduct. 

(Emphasis added.) Although the rule does not state that inquiry into a person's character 

shall be by testimony to reputation, Washington follows the traditional common law rule 
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that proof of character is limited to testimony concerning reputation, Rule 405, Methods 

of Proving Character, SD KARL B' TEO LAND, w ASHINGTON PRACTICE: COURTROOM 

HANDBOOK ON WASHINGTON EVIDENCE ER405 author's cmt. 405: 1 (2020 ed.), One 

cannot express a personal opinion as to a witness's veracity, State v. Woodard, 26 Wn. 

App. 735,738,617 P.2d 1039 (1980), 

A party seeking to admit evidence bears the burden of establishing a foundation 

for that evidence. State v. Land, 121 Wn.2d 494, 500, 851 P.2d 678 (1993), One 

Washington Court of Appeals case stands for the proposition that, in order to offer 

reputation testimony, a witness must lay a foundation establishing that he or she bases the 

subject's reputation on perceptions in the community. State v. Thach, 126 Wn. App. 297, 

315, 106 P.3d 782 (2005), overruled on other grounds by Stale v. Case, 13 Wn. App. 2d 

657,466 P.3d 799 (2020). A Washington Supreme Court decision reads that, to establish 

a valid community, the party seeking to admit the reputation evidence must show that the 

community is both neutral and general. State v. Land, 121 Wn.2d 494, 500 (1993). 

ER 405 does not limit the reputation to the person's residential neighborhood. The 

witness can testify to a reputation among business associates or coworkers. State v. 

Land, 121 Wn.2d 494, 500-01 (1993); State v, Callahan, 87 Wn. App. 925,936,943 P.2d 

676 (1997). Nevertheless, as already stated, to be admissible, the reputation must exist 

within a "neutral and generalized community," State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 805, 

147 P.3d 1201 (2006), overruled on other grounds by, State v. W.R., Jr, 181 Wn.2d 757, 
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336 P.3d 1134 (2014); State v. Callahan, 87 Wn. App. at 934. Reputation among a 

limited group of persons may not accurately reflect the witness's general character for 

truthfulness. Rule 405. Methods of Proving Character, 5D TE0LA1'D, supra, ER 405 

author's cmt. 405 :2. 

A person's reputation among members of a family is inadmissible. State v. Thach, 

126 Wn. App. 297, 315, A "family is not 'neutral ~nough [and] generalized enough to be 

classed as a community.'" State v. Thach, 126 1Vn. App. at 315 (alteration in original); 

State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829,874,822 P.2d 177 (1991). In State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 

759, 805, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's exclusion of 

testimony of the victim's family members as to the victim's reputation of honesty among 

famlly. The Washington Supreme Court noted: 

First, the inherent nature of familial relationships often precludes 
family members from providing an unbiased and reliable evaluation of one 
another, In addition, the "community" with which Larson had discussed 
RS.'s reputation included only two people, Larson and R.S.'s sister. Any 
community comprised of two individuals is too small to constitute a 
community for purposes of.ER 608. 

State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d at 805. 

Juan Luna Huezo argues that the trial court erred because the court focused on his 

reputation rather than on whether the trait of sexual morality was pertinent to the 

underlying crimes. He contends that laying a foundation for community perception is not 

required to introduce evidence of sexual decency. He relies on State v. Woods, 117 Wn. 
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App. 278 (2003) and State v. Griswold, 98 Wn. App. 817, 991 P,2d 657 (2000), 

abrogated on other grounds by State v. De Vincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P,3d 119 (2003), 

Neither case stands for this proposition. In both decisions, this court affirmed the 

exclusion of testimony of the accused's decency because of the failure to properly proffer 

reputation testimony. 

Juan Luna Huezo wished for his ex-wife, his daughter, and his two sisters-in-law 

to testify to his reputation for sexual morality. With offers of proof; Luna Huezo only 

qualified a sister-in-law with any knowledge of any reputation for sexual decency. This 

relative, Nancy Morales Enriquez, based Luna Huezo's reputation solely on family or 

holiday gatherings. Thus, the reputation was not formed within a generalized and neutral 

community. 

Sufficiency of Evidence 

Juan Luna Huezo asserts that the State presented insufficient evidence to convict 

him of any of the three charges. In so arguing, he emphasizes that Tammy and Bonnie 

uttered conflicting statements about the alleged crimes and that Dr. Shannon Phipps 

found no physical evidence during Tammy's exam to support the allegations of sexual 

misconduct. When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of evidence, we must 

determine, whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn,2d 216,221,616 P.2d 628 (1980). 
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The jury convicted Juan Luna Huezo of one count of rape of a child in the first 

degree, for conduct against Tammy, and two counts of child molestation in the first 

degree, one count each against Tammy and Bonnie. For the count of rape and child 

molestation of Tammy, the jury found the aggravating circumstance of an ongoing 

pattern of sexual abuse, For all three counts, the jury found the aggravating circumstance 

of breach of a position of trust. 

RCW 9A.44.073(1) governs rape of a child in the first degree. The statute 

declares: 

A person is guilty of rape of a child in the first degree when the 
person has sexual intercourse with another who is less than twelve years old 
and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least twenty-four 
months older than the victim, 

RCW 9A.44,010(1) defines "sexual intercourse" for purposes of sex offenses: 

'Sexual Intercourse' (a) has its ordinary meaning and occurs upon 
any penetration, however slight. , , , 

Tammy, the victim of the rape charge, testified that Juan Luna Huezo placed his 

penis next to her vagina in his bedroom and in a ve-hicle. More importantly, she averred 

that Luna Huezo put his penis in her mouth. She was eleven years old when the act 

occurred, Tammy has never been married to Luna Huezo, Luna Huezo was more than 

twenty-four months older than Tammy. Thus, the State presented evidence to fulfill all 

elements of the crime of rape of a child. 
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reads: 

RCW 9A.44.083(1) governs child molestation in the fast degree, The statute 

A pet'son is guilty of child molestation in the first degree when the 
person has, or knowingly causes another person under the age of eighteen 
to have, sexual contact with another who is less than 'twelve years old and 
not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six 

· months older than the victim, 

RC\V 9A.44.010(2) defines "Sexual contact" as: 

'Sexual contact' means any touching of the sexual or other intimate 
parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either 
party or a third party. 

Tammy, the victim of one of the counts child molestation, declared, during her 

testimony, that Juan Luna Huezo made sexual contact with her ori several occasions, As 

already indicated, Tammy was under twelve years old and more than thirty-six months 

younger than Luna Huezo at the time of the sexual misconduct. Thus, the State presented 

sufficient evidence to convict on count 2, 

Bonnie, the alleged victim of count 3, testified that, on one occasion, Juan Luna 

Huezo touched her private area and moved his fingers around,. Bonnie was then ten years 

old, She has never married Luna Huezo. Luna Huezo was at least thirty-six months 

older than Bonnie, Thus, the State presented sufficient evidence to convkt on count 3, 

RCW 9 .94A,53 5 lists the relevant aggravating circumstances of an ongoing 

pattern of sexual abuse and a position of trust: 
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Except for circumstances listed in subsection (2) of this section, the 
following circumstances are an exclusive list of factors that can support a 
sentence above the standard range. 

(g) The offense was part of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse of the 
same victim under the age of eighteen years manifested by multiple 
incidents over a prolonged period of time, 

(n) The defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence, or 
fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense, 

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(g) and (n). 

The State presented sufficient evidence to support the aggravating circumstances 

findings. Juan Luna Huezo sexually abused Tammy on multiple occasions over the 

course ofycars. Luna Huezo was the stepfather to Tammy and Bonnie when he engaged 

in the criminal behavior. He thus used his position of trust to facilitate the crimes. 

Juan Luna Huezo highlights that Tammy told his attorney that her mother was 

present in the home at the Hawaiian Village apartment thirty times when he sexually 

touched her. Tammy also told defense counsel that Luna Huezo touched her fifty-eight 

times at the apartment, twenty times at Niashia Morales Enriquez's residence, and thirty 

times at the Steptoe house. Tammy, during trial testimony, significantly limited the 

number of times of molestation. Luna Huezo further highlights that Tammy and Bonnie, 

at one point in their respective testimony, each testified that nothing happened or that 

they could not remember what happened. · 

18 



No. 36001-6,III 
State v. Huezo 

Despite occasional and understandable difficulty in testifying, both Tammy and 

Bonnie identified and described occasions when Juan Luna Huezo sexually touched 

them, We have already repeated some of that testimony, Inconsistent testimony of a 

witness does not equate to insufficient evidence. State v, West, 2017•Ohio•4055, 91 

N.E.3d 365, 376, 

Although the State need not have presented evidence beyond the children's 

testimony to convict Juan Luna Huezo, circumstantial evidence bolstered Tammy's 

accusations, According to Tammy, Luna Huezo used a condom he obtained from a 

backpack, which police later found in that backpack She also stated that he used oil on 

his penis, which he admitted to using during sexual activities, Tammy described an 

occasion when Luna Huezo duct-taped her hands, and police found duct tape and zip ties 

in his backpack Finally, Tammy testified that she confronted Luna Huezo about abusing 

Bonnie, to which he admitted, 

Juan Luna Huezo next challenges the sufficiency of evidence due to Dr. Shannon 

Phipps' examination of Tammy uncovering no physical evidence in support of sexual 

contact Nevertheless, Dr, Phipps explained that the lack of medical evidence docs not 

rule out rape or molestation. Luna Huezo cites this court no case law supporting the 

proposition that the State must present medical testimony of physical injury in order to 

convict an accused of rape. The law is to the contrary, State v, Boyd, 84 N,M, 290, 502 

P,2d 31S, 317 (Ct. App, 1972), 
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STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS 

Juan Luna Huezo raises numerous issues in a statement of additional grounds 

(SAG). We discuss and reject each ground. 

Opinion Testimony Regarding Victim Credibility 

Juan Luna Huezo asserts that the State elicited opinion testimony from him that 

created an inference that he vouched for the credibility of Tammy and Bonnie. He argues 

that the trial court cn·cd by allowing the State to engage in prosecutorial misconduct by 

violating the motion in limine, 

Prosecutorial misconduct "requires a new trial only if the misconduct was 

prejudicial." State v. Stith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 19, 856 P.2d 415 (1993). Such misconduct 

is prejudicial when "there is a 'substantial likelihood' that the misconduct 'affected the 

jury's verdict."' State v, Stith, 71 Wn. App. at 1-9. Cross-examination "designed to 

compel a witness to express an opinion as to whether other witnesses were lying 

constitutes misconduct." State v. Stith, 71 Wn, App. at 18. , 
✓ 

During the cross-e~amination, the State asked Juan Luna Huezo: 

Isn't it trne <luring that interview you told Detective Santoy that 
[Tammy] would never lie about anything this serious; isn't tha.t true? 

RP at 401. The trial court overruled an objection to the question and later pennitted the 

State's attorney to ask whether he made a similar statement about Bonnie. 
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Juan Luna Huezo presents the court no authority that the State may not question 

the accused about statements he uttered to another regarding the truthfulness of tho 

victim. Regardless, we find no prejudice in the questions and answer because of the 

overwhelming evidence, including circumstantial evidence, of the crimes and Luna 

Huezo's concession to Tammy of the abuse of Bonnie. 

Right to Remain Silent 

Juan Luna Huezo argues that the State extensively commented on his right to 

remain silent and thus committed misconduct by using his silence as substantive evidence 

of guilt. Luna Huezo did not object to any purported misconduct during trial. 

A defendant waives a claim of prosecutorial misconduct when failing to object to 

the conduct during trial, unless he or she demonstrates that the "misconduct was so 

flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice." In re 

the Personal Restraint o/Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696,704,286 P.3d 673 (2012). The 

State may not use a defendant's silence as substantive evidence of guilt. State v. Burke, 

163 Wn.2d 204, 206, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). 

When cross-examining Juan Luna Huezo about his comments about the hygiene of 

Tammy, the prosecutor asked or commented: "This is the first we're hearing about all 

this; Isn't that true?" RP at 399. During summation, the prosecuting attorney remarked: 

He waited an entire year to now tell his side. Didn't tell it that day. 
Maybe he's had some time to think about it. 
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RP at 464. 

We agree that the questioning and closing remarks at least indirectly criticized 

Juan Luna Huezo for remaining silent before trial. Nevertheless, we do not find any 

misconduct flagrant or prejudicial because of the overwhelming evidence of guilt. 

Shift of Burden of Proof 

Juan Luna Huezo contends that the State improperly shifted the burden of proof to 

him. He references the prosecuting attorney remarks during summation: 

[Luna Huezo] took the stand and he told you, .. , [t]hat there is also 
this thing that happened the morning of 2-8 where [Tammy] witnessed him 
pulling [Bonnie's) hair .... And something about 'l(<mlmy not wiping 
herself. 

You know what's interest? Think about this, 
No question was ever asked of Kelly about any of that. Huh. Don't 

you think that's weird? No question was asked of [Bonnie] about any of 
that. None of that was mentioned in opening statement. Why is that? 
Because it only came in through him. Nobody else was asked about any of 
that. Think about that. Why? Because it's not true. 

RP at 463-64. 

During closing argument, the prosecution may not suggest that the burden of 

proving innocence rests with the defendant. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438,453, 

258 P.3d 43 (2011). Nevertheless, a prosecutor holds wide latitude to argue reasonable 

inferences from the evidepce. State v, Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 453. The prosecutor 

may attack the credibility of the accused. State v. Berube, 171 Wn. App. 103,117,286 
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P.3d 402 (2012). By attacking Juan Luna Huezo's c1•edibility, the State did not shift the 

burden of proof. 

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

Juan Luna Huezo argues that he received ineffective assistance of counsel due to 

defense counsel's failure to (1) withdraw, (2) cross-examine and impeach witnesses, and 

(3) move for dismissal for spoliation of evidence, To prevail on a claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel, the accused must show that defense counsel's representation was 

deficient and the deficient representation prejudiced him. State v. Estes, 193 Wn. App. 

479,488,372 P.3d 163 (2016), ajf'd 188 Wn.2d 450, 395 P,3d 1045 (2017). Prejudice 

exists if there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's errors, the result of the 

proceeding would have differed. State v. Estes, 193 Wn. App. at 488. 

Juan Luna Huezo argues that defense counsel should have withdrawn as counsel 

after suffering the tragic death of his niece during the trial and because of other family 

deaths preceding trial. In response to the niece's death, the trial court granted a one-day 

recess in order to give counsel a chance to rest before proceeding further with trial. 

Counsel stated that a brief continuance would be sufficient. Counsel tragically lost three 

siblings to cancer in the thirteen months prior to his niece's death. Nevertheless, the 

record does not evidence that any of these tragedies impacted defense counsel's ability to 

represent Luna Huezo during trial. 

RPC 1.16 provides: 
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(a) Except as stated in paragraph (c), a lawyer shall not represent a 
client or, where representation has commenced, shall, notwithstanding 
RCW 2.44,040, withdraw from the representation of a client if: 

(2) the lawyer's physical or mental condition materially impairs the 
lawyer's ability to represent the client, 

No evidence supports the violation of this rule of ethical conduct. 

Juan Luna Huezo argues that his trial counsel's failure to cross-examine Bonnie 

and to impeach Tammy with her prior inconsistent statement prejudiced him, Generally, 

courts entrust cross-examination techniques to the professional discretion of counsel. In 

re Personal Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 64 7, 720, 101 P.3d l (2004), In determining a 

claim of ineffective cross-examination of a witness, a court need not determine why trial 

counsel did not cross examine if that approach falls within the range of reasonable 

representation, In re Personal Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn,2d at 720. Luna Huezo's 

counsel may have deemed that the testimony of the victims by itself raised questions of 

their credibility, that cross-examining the victims more would have obtained no 

additional helpful information, and that a cross-examination of young girls might dismay 

the jury, 

Finally, Juan Luna Huezo maintains that his trial counsel should have moved for 

dismissal in response the State's failure to preserve the zebra blanket, The zebra blanket 

was at most potentially useful, not exculpatory, evidence, Luna Huezo allegedly used 
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this blanket to silence Tammy by stuffing it into her mouth. Detective Santoy decided 

not to preserve the blanket or test it for DNA because of its access to numerous children. 

Due process requires the State to disclose material exculpatory evidence to the 

defense and to preserve such evidence for use by the defense. State v. Donahue, 105 Wn. 

App. 67, 77, 18 P.3d 608 (2001). Failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not 

constitute a denial of due process unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the 

part of the State. State v. Donahue, 105 Wn. App. at 78. Juan Luna Huezo does not 

show bad faith or that the blanket would have advanced his defense. 

Cumulative Error 

Juan Luna Huezo argues that the combined effect of the aforementioned errors 

denied him a fair trial under the cumulative error doctrine. The cumulative error doctrine 

may warrant reversal, even if each error standing alone would otherwise be considered 

harmless. State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252,279, 149 PJd 646 (2006). The doctrine does 

not apply when the errors are few and have little or no effect on the outcome of the trial. 

State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 279 (2006). Assuming any errors in Juan Luna Huezo's 

trial, we deem any errors minimal and harmless. 

CONCLUSION 

We affirm Juan Luna Huezo's three convictions. 
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A majority of the panel has determined this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but it will be filed for public record pursuant to RCW 

2,06,040, 

Fearing, J, 

WE CONCUR: 
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